UCLA UCLA Previously Published Works

Title

Prevalence and trends of polypharmacy among HIV-positive and -negative men in the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study from 2004 to 2016

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/8f6354px

Journal PLOS ONE, 13(9)

ISSN

1932-6203

Authors

Ware, Deanna Palella, Frank J Chew, Kara W et al.

Publication Date

2018

DOI

10.1371/journal.pone.0203890

Copyright Information

This work is made available under the terms of a Creative Commons Attribution License, available at <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>

Peer reviewed



Citation: Ware D, Palella FJ, Jr., Chew KW, Friedman MR, D'Souza G, Ho K, et al. (2018) Prevalence and trends of polypharmacy among HIV-positive and -negative men in the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study from 2004 to 2016. PLoS ONE 13(9): e0203890. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0203890

Editor: Jason F. Okulicz, San Antonio Military Medical Center, UNITED STATES

Received: May 16, 2018

Accepted: August 29, 2018

Published: September 11, 2018

Copyright: © 2018 Ware et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: Data are available from the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study website (https://statepi.jhsph.edu/macs/pdt.html) for researchers who meet the criteria for access to confidential data.

Funding: Data in this manuscript were collected by the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study (MACS) with centers at Baltimore (U01-AI35042): The Johns Hopkins University Bloomberg School of Public Health to MP; Chicago (U01-AI35039): Feinberg RESEARCH ARTICLE

Prevalence and trends of polypharmacy among HIV-positive and -negative men in the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study from 2004 to 2016

Deanna Ware¹*, Frank J. Palella, Jr.²°, Kara W. Chew³°, M. Reuel Friedman⁴°, Gypsyamber D'Souza⁵°, Ken Ho⁶°, Michael Plankey¹

 Department of Infectious Diseases, Georgetown University Medical Center, Washington, District of Columbia, United States of America, 2 Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, Illinois, United States of America, 3 David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California Los Angeles, Los Angeles, California, United States of America, 4 Infectious Diseases and Microbiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, United States of America, 5 Bloomberg School of Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland, United States of America,
Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, United States of America,

These authors contributed equally to this work.
* dpf38@georgetown.edu

Abstract

Rates of aging-related comorbidities, which require targeted medications to treat, have been shown to be increased among persons living with HIV compared with uninfected counterparts. Polypharmacy is generally defined as the concurrent use of 5 or more medications. We investigated polypharmacy prevalence for non-HIV medications over a 12year period among HIV-positive and -negative participants in the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. Information regarding non-HIV medication use, HIV status, age, race/ethnicity, enrollment period, and medication insurance was obtained on 3,160 participants from semiannual visits between 2004 and 2016. Polypharmacy was defined as taking 5 or more non-HIV medications since the last health care visit. Generalized estimating equation models with repeated measures were produced overall and by HIV status to examine polypharmacy. The unadjusted prevalence of polypharmacy across all study visits was 18.6% and was higher among HIV-positive participants (24.4%) compared with HIV-negative participants (11.6%) (P < .0001). Among the 50 years and older age group, HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants had increases in polypharmacy over the observation period, from 38.4% to 46.8% (P = .0081) and from 16.7% to 46.0% (P < .0001), respectively. Among participants younger than 50, polypharmacy among HIV-positive participants remained stable (18.9% in 2004 to 17.3% in 2016; P = .5374) but increased among HIV-negative men (5.6% to 20.4%; P < .0001). After adjusting for age, race/ethnicity, and medication insurance, HIV-positive participants had a higher prevalence of polypharmacy than HIV-negative participants (25.3% vs 18.7%; P < .0001). Older age, white race, and having medication insurance coverage were also associated with greater polypharmacy. A convergence of polypharmacy prevalence was observed between HIV-positive and -negative participants at the end of observation. HIV-positive status was associated with



School of Medicine. Northwestern University. and Cook County Bureau of Health Services to FP; Los Angeles (U01-AI35040): University of California, UCLA Schools of Public Health and Medicine to KC; Pittsburgh (U01-AI35041): University of Pittsburgh, Graduate School of Public Health: KH, MF; Data Coordinating Center (UM1-AI35043): The Johns Hopkins University Bloomberg School of Public Health to GD. Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases: Robin E. Huebner; National Cancer Institute: Geraldina Dominguez. The MACS is funded primarily by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID;https:// www.niaid.nih.gov/), with additional co-funding from the National Cancer Institute (NCI;https:// www.cancer.gov/), the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA;https://www.drugabuse.gov/), and the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH; https://www.nimh.nih.gov/index.shtml). Targeted supplemental funding for specific projects was also provided by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI;https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov), and the National Institute on Deafness and Communication Disorders (NIDCD;https://www. nidcd.nih.gov). MACS data collection is also supported by UL1-TR001079 (JHU ICTR) from the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (NCATS;https://ncats.nih.gov/) a component of the National Institutes of Health (NIH; https://nih.gov/), and NIH Roadmap for Medical Research. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

an increased likelihood of polypharmacy, after adjusting for age, race/ethnicity, enrollment period, medication insurance, and study visit. Over time, polypharmacy prevalence increased among all participants, with converging rates between HIV-positive and -negative participants by the end of the observation period.

Introduction

Nearly half of persons living with HIV (PLWH) in the United States are older than 50 years of age [1]. In the general US population, adults experience increasing rates of comorbidities as they age [2–4]. PLWH develop these comorbidities at a higher rate than those without HIV [5–7]. While the number of drugs that comprise a modern antiretroviral therapy regimen has diminished over time, aging PLWH increasingly require more non-HIV medications to treat chronic age-related comorbidities [8]. Polypharmacy is generally defined as the concurrent use of 5 or more non-HIV medications [9]. One recent study found that men living with HIV take a median of 13 medications, including medications for HIV infection [10], underscoring the prevalence of polypharmacy among PLWH. Established risks of polypharmacy include increased serious adverse drug events, organ system injury, hospitalization, decreased medication adherence, and mortality [11].

Several factors contribute to polypharmacy among PLWH. Lower-income individuals have a greater risk of polypharmacy due to higher rates of non-HIV comorbidities and yet, having medication insurance coverage has been shown to correlate with excessive polypharmacy [10]. With the number of non–AIDS-related deaths currently outnumbering AIDS-related deaths among PLWH in the United States, PLWH older than 50 may have an enhanced susceptibility to polypharmacy due to comorbidities that result, at least in part, from ongoing immune dysfunction, decreased organ system reserve, and chronic inflammation [1, 11, 12]. In a Swiss HIV cohort study, multivariable hazard ratios for myocardial infarction, stroke, bone fractures (not due to trauma), diabetes, osteoporosis, and non–AIDS-defining malignancies were greater for PLWH older than 65 years vs younger PLWH [13].

To our knowledge, there is limited evidence comparing polypharmacy longitudinally between PLWH and HIV-negative individuals. In the general US population, polypharmacy has almost doubled, from 8.2% in 1999-2000 to 15% in 2011-2012 [14]. Among HIV-specific cohorts, polypharmacy prevalence rates ranged from 23% to 39%, with studies noting higher polypharmacy among PLWH compared with those who were HIV negative [15-18]. While these studies provide insight into the trends of polypharmacy in HIV-infected and uninfected populations, these studies were cross-sectional and limited to mostly older populations. To this end, we sought to examine the prevalence of polypharmacy in a population of HIV-positive and -negative men who have sex with men (MSM) in the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study (MACS) over a 12-year period. We aimed to (1) determine the prevalence of polypharmacy and use of select non-HIV medications and (2) investigate risk factors associated with polypharmacy. We hypothesized that polypharmacy would be associated with HIV-positive status, after adjusting for age, enrollment period, medication insurance coverage, race/ethnicity, and study visit. Among HIV-positive participants, we hypothesized that polypharmacy would be associated with older age, having detectable plasma HIV RNA (viral load), and lower CD4+ Tlymphocyte cell count.

Materials and methods

Study population

The MACS is a prospective cohort study of the natural and treated history of HIV among MSM in 4 US regions: Baltimore, Maryland/Washington, DC; Chicago, Illinois; Los Angeles, California; and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania/Columbus, Ohio. Since its inception in 1984, a total of 6,972 HIV-positive and HIV-negative MSM have been enrolled in the study over 3 periods: 4,954 in 1984–1985; 668 in 1987–1991; and 1,350 in 2001–2003. MACS participants attend semiannual clinic visits that involve an Audio Computer-Assisted Self-Interview and a stan-dardized clinical examination, in which medical history data and biological specimens are collected and stored. The MACS study design has been described elsewhere [19–21]. Detailed information regarding HIV and non-HIV medication use has been collected at every visit since the beginning of the study. Questionnaires are available at www.aidscohortstudy.org. Institutional review boards at Johns Hopkins University, Northwestern University, University of California Los Angeles, and University of Pittsburgh approved the protocol, and written informed consent was obtained from all study participants. This analysis included 3,160 (1,715 HIV-positive/1,445 HIV-negative) men who participated in the MACS at any visit between October 2004 and April 2016.

Outcome measures

Non-HIV medications. As part of routine data collection and processing during each semiannual visit, information regarding self-reported non-HIV medications was collected and given drug codes that were created for use within the MACS. Drug codes were generated using guidelines from the World Health Organization Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical index. Non-HIV medications were grouped into general drug classifications: cholesterol-lowering, antihy-pertensive, diabetes, hepatitis C virus, hepatitis B virus (including antiretroviral treatments), steroid, hormone, anticancer, antidepressant, tranquilizer, aspirin, antibiotic, and unclassified drugs. For this analysis, additional drug classifications were created for drug codes that were originally "unclassified." These new classes were antihistamine, appetite suppressant, anti-anginal, anticoagulant, antidiarrheal, antifungal, antiulcer, central nervous system stimulant, digestive/biliary, dopamine, herbal supplement, muscle relaxant, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory, opioid, substance abuse treatment, antituberculosis, and vitamins. Medications with a prevalence of use less than 5% were combined into an "other" medication category. There were a total of 30 medication classifications. Non-HIV medications included prescription and nonprescription drugs and excluded recreational drugs.

Polypharmacy. The total number of non-HIV medications taken at each visit was calculated. Polypharmacy was defined as a dichotomous indicator of 5 or more non-HIV medications taken since participants' last visit. Routinely used and as-needed medications were treated similarly. All HIV antiretroviral medication was excluded from the polypharmacy count.

Covariates

Sociodemographic characteristics. Race/ethnicity at baseline was categorized as non-Hispanic white, non-Hispanic black, and other. Enrollment was classified into early recruitment (1987–1991) and later recruitment (2001-current). Age at each visit was calculated from the self-reported date of birth and date at visit and was categorized as younger than 50 and older than or equal to 50 years. Race/ethnicity and enrollment were collected on entry into the MACS. Age was allowed to vary with time. As a result, when a participant aged from younger than 50 years to 50 years or older, they were recategorized.

Comorbidities. Selected comorbidities were examined and included high blood pressure (systolic blood pressure \geq 140 mm Hg or diastolic blood pressure \geq 90 mm Hg or the use of medications to treat high blood pressure), diabetes (fasting glucose \geq 126 mg/dL or the use of medications to treat diabetes), liver disease (aspartate aminotransferase or aminotransferase > 150 UL), kidney disease (estimated glomerular filtration rate using Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equation < 60 mL/min/1.73 m² or urine protein-to-creatinine ratio \geq 200), and dyslipidemia (total cholesterol \geq 200 mg/dL, low-density lipid \geq 130 mg/dL, high-density lipid < 40 mg/dL, triglyceride \geq 150 mg/dL, or the use of medications to treat dyslipidemia) [22].

Medication insurance coverage and health care visits. Current medication insurance coverage was defined using self-reported responses to the question, "*Do you have health insurance that covers the cost of medications*?" For each participant, the number of visits to a physician's office, emergency department, or other health care clinic was calculated at each visit.

HIV-related risk factors. HIV status (HIV positive/HIV negative) was assessed using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay with confirmatory Western blot on all MACS participants at their initial visit and at every visit for those who were HIV negative. HIV-positive participants included all men who were identified as such at baseline and those who seroconverted during study observation. CD4-positive T-lymphocyte cell counts/mm³ (CD4) and plasma HIV RNA levels (viral load) were collected among participants with HIV. CD4 and HIV RNA viral load were dichotomized into less than 500 cells/mm³ and greater than or equal to 500 cells/mm³ and detectable/undetectable (based on the lower detection level of the assay used at the visit), respectively.

Antiretroviral therapy. Antiretroviral therapy (ART) use was dichotomized into "yes" and "no" at each visit at which a participant reported use. Therapy type was categorized into (1) none, (2) monotherapy, (3) combination therapy, or (4) HAART. ART adherence was assessed using the question, "*On average, how often did you take your medication as pre-scribed*?" Response choices included: (1) 100% of the time, (2) 95% to 99% of the time, (3) 75% to 94% of the time, and (4) less than 75% of the time [23].

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were generated for the outcome measures and for each of the covariates at the index visit using frequencies/percentages and medians/interquartile ranges (IQRs) where appropriate. The index visit was defined as a participant's first visit during the observation period between 2004 and 2016. Adjusted prevalence rates of polypharmacy and select medication classifications (antidepressants, antihypertensive, cholesterol lowering, and steroids) were calculated, stratified by age (<50/250 years) and HIV status (HIV positive/HIV negative), and graphically plotted. To longitudinally examine polypharmacy, generalized estimating equation models with repeated measures were produced overall and reproduced within each HIV status group. Covariates were considered for inclusion in the model based on a priori knowledge of their association with polypharmacy and included sociodemographic characteristics, medication insurance, and enrollment period. Race/ethnicity and enrollment period were time stable variables, while age, medication insurance, HIV-related risk factors, and ART use were longitudinally analyzed. Each covariate was independently tested for its association with polypharmacy and included in the model if the *P* value was less than .10. The final overall and HIV status-stratified models were adjusted for age, race/ethnicity, medication insurance coverage, enrollment period, and HIV status (in overall model only). In the HIV-positive-only model, there was additional adjustment for viral load, CD4, ART use, and ART adherence. Adjusted prevalence ratios (aPRs) along with their corresponding 95% CIs were generated.

Missing values were considered to be random and were dropped from the analysis. Statistical significance was set at the P < .05 level. Statistical analyses were performed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina, USA).

Results

Descriptive statistics

Most participants identified as white non-Hispanic (60.0%) and 54.3% were recruited during the first enrollment period. The median follow-up time was 12.0 years (IQR, 5.0 to 12.5). Demographic characteristics stratified by HIV status are reported in Table 1. Evaluation of selected aging-related comorbidities at the participants' index visit revealed prevalence rates of high blood pressure, diabetes, dyslipidemia, liver disease, and kidney disease of 17.8%, 4.9%, 30.0%, 0.1%, and 2.3%, respectively. At the index visit, HIV-negative participants had higher prevalence rates of high blood pressure (20.3% vs 15.7%) and dyslipidemia (32.8% vs 27.6%) than HIV-positive participants, while the latter had greater prevalence of diabetes (5.2% vs 4.5%), liver disease (1.0% vs 0.1%), and kidney disease (2.9% vs 1.6%). HIV-positive participants reported more medication insurance coverage at their index visit than HIV-negative participants at 86.0% and 77.0%, respectively. The overall median number of health care visits (physician's office, emergency department, or health clinic) in the 6 months preceding the index visit was 2 (IQR, 1 to 5), with HIV-positive participants having more visits than their HIV-negative counterparts (3 vs 1; P>.0001). There was no statistically significant difference in health care visits by HIV status at end of the observation period. Among HIV-positive participants at their index visit, 48.2% had an undetectable viral load, 62.3% were at least 95% adherent to their ART medications, 47.9% had a CD4 count of greater than or equal to 500 cells/mm³, and were prescribed a median of 3 (IQR, 0 to 3) ART medications. Nearly onethird of HIV-positive participants (28.8%) reported no ART use (Table 1). The median number of non-HIV medications used by participants at the index visit was 2 (IQR, 1 to 4), with a higher number among HIV-positive participants compared with those who were HIV negative (3 vs 1; P < .0001). The prevalence of polypharmacy at the index visit was 18.6% and was higher in HIV-positive participants (24.4%) than HIV-negative participants (11.6%) (P < P.0001). Demographic characteristics stratified by enrollment period are shown in Table 2. Men recruited earlier in the study were older (median age, 51 vs 39 years), mostly non-Hispanic white (85.2% vs 31.9%), and reported more medication insurance coverage (85.0% vs 78.3%) compared with later-enrollment participants.

Adjusted prevalence of Non-HIV medications. Overall, the adjusted prevalence rates of antidepressant, antihypertensive, cholesterol-lowering, and steroid medication use were 22.1%, 30.6%, 29.2%, and 14.5%, respectively. HIV-positive participants reported more antidepressant (25.5% vs 18.6%; P < .0001), cholesterol-lowering (31.0% vs 27.4%; P < .0001), and steroid (19.1% vs 9.7%; P < .0001) use than HIV-negative persons. There were similar prevalence rates of antihypertensive medication use between HIV-positive and -negative participants (30.6% vs 30.6%; P = .8760). Other differences were observed by age and by HIV status (Fig 1). Participants older than 50 and HIV-positive participants had higher prevalence of use of the aforementioned medications than persons younger than 50 and HIV negative. Overall, the use of antihypertensive, cholesterol-lowering, and steroid medications increased over time (P < .0001), while antidepressant use remained relatively stable. The changes in prevalence of use of these medications from 2004 to 2016 are graphically represented in Fig 1.

Risks of polypharmacy. We observed an increase in polypharmacy prevalence regardless of age and independent of HIV status from 2004 to 2016. In the 50 and older age group, HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants demonstrated increases in polypharmacy over time,

Table 1. Characteristics of MACS participants by HIV status at index visit.

| | HIV Negative | HIV Positive | All Participants | |
|--|---|-----------------|------------------|--|
| | (n = 1445) | (n = 1715) | (n = 3160) | |
| Follow-up, median (IQR), y | 11.5 (3.0–12.5) | 12.5 (8.5–12.5) | 12.0 (5.0–12.5) | |
| Age, median (IQR), y | 49 (41–56) | 45 (38–51) | 46 (39–53) | |
| Race/ethnicity, n (%) | | | | |
| Non-Hispanic white | on-Hispanic white 991 (68.6%) 904 (52.7%) | | 1895 (60.0%) | |
| Non-Hispanic black | 303 (21.0%) | 511 (29.8%) | 814 (25.8%) | |
| Other | 151 (10.5%) | 300 (17.5%) | 451 (14.3%) | |
| Enrollment period, n (%) | | | | |
| Early recruitment (1987–1991) | 921 (63.7%) | 743 (43.3%) | 1715 (54.3%) | |
| Late recruitment (2001–2003) | 524 (36.3%) | 972 (56.7%) | 1445 (45.7%) | |
| Prevalence of comorbidities, n (%) | | | | |
| Hypertension | 293 (20.3%) | 269 (15.7%) | 562 (17.8%) | |
| Diabetes | 65 (4.5%) | 89 (5.2%) | 154 (4.9%) | |
| Dyslipidemia | 474 (32.8%) | 473 (27.6%) | 947 (30.0%) | |
| Liver disease | 2 (0.1%) | 18 (1.0%) | 20 (0.1%) | |
| Kidney disease | 23 (1.6%) | 49 (2.9%) | 72 (2.3%) | |
| Medication insurance coverage, n (%) | | · | | |
| Yes | 1112 (77.0%) | 1475 (86.0%) | 2587 (81.7%) | |
| No | 288 (19.9%) | 193 (11.3%) | 481 (15.2%) | |
| Missing | 45 (3.1%) | 47 (2.7%) | 92 (2.9%) | |
| No. of health Care visits, median (IQR) | 1 (0-3) | 3 (1-6) | 2 (1-5) | |
| HIV therapy type, n (%) | | | | |
| None | - | 493 (28.8%) | 493 (28.8%) | |
| Monotherapy | - | 7 (0.4%) | 7 (0.4%) | |
| Combination therapy | - | 110 (6.4%) | 110 (6.4%) | |
| HAART | - | 1073 (62.6%) | 1073 (62.6%) | |
| Missing | - | 32 (1.9%) | 32 (1.9%) | |
| HIV viral load, n (%) | | · | | |
| Detectable | - | 709 (41.3%) | 709 (41.3%) | |
| Undetectable | - | 734 (42.8%) | 734 (42.8%) | |
| Missing | - | 272 (18.9%) | 272 (18.9%) | |
| ART adherence, n (%) | | | | |
| 100% | - | 436 (25.4%) | 436 (25.4%) | |
| 95%-99% | - | 633 (36.9%) | 633 (36.9%) | |
| 75%-94% | - | 112 (6.5%) | 112 (6.5%) | |
| <75% | - | 31 (1.8%) | 31 (1.8%) | |
| Missing | - | 503 (29.3%) | 503 (29.3%) | |
| CD4 ⁺ count (cells/mm ³) [,] n (%) | | | | |
| < 500 | - | 678 (39.5%) | 678 (39.5%) | |
| ≥ 500 | - | 821 (47.9%) | 821 (47.9%) | |
| Missing | - | 216 (12.6%) | 216 (12.6%) | |
| No. of ART medications, median (IQR) | | 3 (0-3) | 3 (0-3) | |
| No. of non-HIV medications, median (IQR) | 1 (1-3) | 3 (2-4) | 2 (1-4) | |
| Prevalence of selected medication types, n (%) | | | | |
| Antidepressants | 277 (19.2%) | 451 (26.3%) | 728 (23.0%) | |
| Cholesterol-lowering | 198 (13.7%) | 318 (18.5%) | 516 (16.3%) | |
| Steroids | 57 (3.9%) | 241 (14.1%) | 298 (17.4%) | |
| | | | • | |

(Continued)

Table 1. (Continued)

| | HIV Negative | HIV Positive | All Participants | |
|------------------------|--------------|--------------|------------------|--|
| | (n = 1445) | (n = 1715) | (n = 3160) | |
| Antihypertensive | 249 (17.2%) | 276 (16.1%) | 525 (16.6%) | |
| Polypharmacy, n (%) | | | | |
| ≥5 Non-HIV medications | 168 (11.6%) | 419 (24.4%) | 587 (18.6%) | |
| <5 Non-HIV medications | 1277 (88.4%) | 1296 (75.6%) | 2573 (81.4%) | |

Abbreviations: ART, antiretroviral therapy; IQR, interquartile range.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203890.t001

from 38.4% to 46.8% (P = .0081) and from 16.7% to 46.0% (P < .0001), respectively. Among participants younger than 50 years, polypharmacy in HIV-positive participants remained stable, from 18.9% in 2004 to 17.3% in 2016 (P = 0.5374) but increased among HIV-negative men, from 5.6% to 20.4% (P < .0001) during the same period (Fig 2). By 2016, no significant differences in polypharmacy were apparent by HIV status regardless of age group. After adjusting for age, race/ethnicity, medication insurance coverage, and enrollment period, polypharmacy prevalence across all visits was 25.3% and 18.7% among HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants, respectively (P < .0001). Several risk factors for polypharmacy were identified. HIV-positive status (aPR, 1.36; 95% CI, 1.26 to 1.46), age 50 or older (aPR, 1.61; 95% CI, 1.47 to 1.76), insured (aPR, 1.32; 95% CI, 1.16 to 1.49), or enrolled earlier (aPR, 1.26; 95% CI, 1.14 to 1.40) were positively associated with polypharmacy, while other race (aPR, 0.86; 95% CI, 0.75 to 0.99) and non-Hispanic black (aPR, 0.73; 95% CI, 0.65 to 0.82) were associated with decreased odds of polypharmacy (Table 3). Similar risk factors were identified when considering HIV-positive and -negative participants separately. Additionally among HIV-positive participants, ART medication use was associated with increased risk of polypharmacy (aPR, 1.13; 95% CI, 1.12 to 1.18; Table 3).

Discussion

In this study, the overall prevalence of polypharmacy increased among MACS participants over a 12-year period and was driven by increases in the use of medications to treat agingrelated chronic comorbidities, prominently including antihypertensive and cholesterol-lowering drugs. As expected, HIV-positive and older participants (\geq 50 years) carried the greatest burden of polypharmacy, with HIV-positive participants 50 years and older having the highest rates. Having medication insurance coverage was associated with increased polypharmacy. Participants who were non-Hispanic black and other race were less likely to experience polypharmacy than non-Hispanic white participants. Earlier MACS enrollment was also positively associated with polypharmacy. Participants enrolled during the earlier recruitment period were on average older and reported higher rates of medication insurance, therefore greater rates of polypharmacy were expected, regardless of HIV status. HIV-related clinical factors (viral load and CD4 cell count) and self-reported ART adherence among HIV-positive participants did not demonstrate a statistically significant association with polypharmacy. However, ART medication use itself was positively associated with increased polypharmacy. Unexpectedly, polypharmacy prevalence by HIV status was similar in both age groups toward the end of the observation period.

Our findings corroborate the trend of increased polypharmacy among HIV-positive and -negative populations [14–18]. Recently, Justice et al reported that polypharmacy was common in both HIV-positive and -negative individuals, and they found similar factors associated with

Table 2. Characteristics of MACS participants by enrollment at index visit.

| | Early Enrollment | Late Enrollment | All Participants | |
|---|------------------|-----------------|------------------|--|
| | (n = 1664) | (n = 1496) | (N = 3160) | |
| Follow-up, median (IQR), y | 12.5 (9.5–12.5) | 10.5 (2.0–12.5) | 12.0 (5.0–12.5) | |
| Age, median (IQR), y | 51 (47–57) | 39 (32–45) | 46 (39–53) | |
| Race/ethnicity, n (%) | | | | |
| Non-Hispanic white | 1418 (85.2%) | 477 (31.9%) | 1895 (60.0%) | |
| Non-Hispanic black | 148 (8.9%) | 666 (44.5%) | 814 (25.8%) | |
| Other | 98 (5.9%) | 353 (23.6%) | 451 (14.3%) | |
| HIV status, n (%) | | | | |
| Positive | 743 (44.7%) | 972 (65.0%) | 1715 (54.3%) | |
| Negative | 921 (55.4%) | 524 (35.0%) | 1445 (45.7%) | |
| Prevalence of comorbidities, n (%) | | | | |
| Hypertension | 401 (24.1%) | 161 (10.8%) | 562 (17.8%) | |
| Diabetes | 103 (6.2%) | 51 (3.4%) | 154 (4.9%) | |
| Dyslipidemia | 616 (37.0%) | 331 (22.1%) | 947 (30.0%) | |
| Liver disease | 9 (0.5%) | 11 (0.7%) | 20 (0.1%) | |
| Kidney disease | 44 (2.6%) | 28 (1.9%) | 72 (2.3%) | |
| Medication insurance coverage, n (%) | | | | |
| Yes | 1415 (85.0%) | 1172 (78.3%) | 2587 (81.7%) | |
| No | 176 (10.6%) | 305 (20.4%) | 481 (15.2%) | |
| Missing | 73 (4.4%) | 19 (1.3%) | 92 (2.9%) | |
| No. of health care visits, median (IQR) | 2 (1-5) | 2 (1-4) | 2 (1-5) | |
| HIV therapy type, HIV only (n = 1715) | | | | |
| None | 164 (22.1%) | 329 (33.9%) | 493 (28.8%) | |
| Monotherapy | 3 (0.4%) | 4 (0.4%) | 7 (0.4%) | |
| Combination therapy | 83 (11.2%) | 27 (2.8%) | 110 (6.4%) | |
| HAART | 465 (62.6%) | 608 (62.6%) | 1073 (62.6%) | |
| Missing | 28 (3.8%) | 4 (0.4%) | 32 (1.9%) | |
| HIV viral load, n (%), HIV only (n = 1715) | | | | |
| Detectable | 263 (35.4%) | 446 (45.9%) | 709 (41.3%) | |
| Undetectable | 308 (41.5%) | 426 (43.8%) | 734 (42.8%) | |
| Missing | 172 (23.2%) | 100 (10.3%) | 272 (18.9%) | |
| ART adherence, n (%), HIV only (n = 1715) | | · · · | | |
| 100% | 203 (27.3%) | 233 (24.0%) | 436 (25.4%) | |
| 95%-99% | 307 (41.3%) | 326 (33.5%) | 633 (36.9%) | |
| 75%-94% | 47 (6.3%) | 65 (6.7%) | 112 (6.5%) | |
| <75% | 14 (1.9%) | 17 (1.8%) | 31 (1.8%) | |
| Missing | 172 (23.2%) | 331 (34.1%) | 503 (29.3%) | |
| CD4 ⁺ count (cells/mm ³) [,] n (%), HIV only (n = 1715) | | | | |
| < 500 | 294 (39.6%) | 384 (39.5%) | 678 (39.5%) | |
| ≥ 500 | 295 (39.7%) | 526 (54.1%) | 821 (47.9%) | |
| | 154 (20.7%) | 62 (6.5%) | 216 (12.6%) | |
| No. of ART medications, median (IQR), HIV only | 3 (2-4) | 3 (0-3) | 3 (0-3) | |
| No. of non-HIV medications, median (IQR) | 3 (1-4) | 2 (1-3) | 2 (1-4) | |
| Prevalence of selected medication types (unadjusted), n (%) | | | | |
| Antidepressants | 427 (25.7%) | 301 (20.1%) | 728 (23.0%) | |
| Cholesterol-lowering | 400 (24.0%) | 116 (7.8%) | 516 (16.3%) | |
| Steroids | 217 (13.0%) | 81 (5.4%) | 298 (17.4%) | |
| | | | | |

(Continued)

Table 2. (Continued)

| | Early Enrollment | Late Enrollment | All Participants | |
|------------------------|------------------|-----------------|------------------|--|
| | (n = 1664) | (n = 1496) | (N = 3160) | |
| Antihypertensive | 366 (22.0%) | 159 (10.6%) | 525 (16.6%) | |
| Polypharmacy, n (%) | | | | |
| ≥5 Non-HIV medications | 382 (23.0%) | 205 (13.7%) | 587 (18.6%) | |
| <5 Non-HIV medications | 1282 (77.0%) | 1291 (86.3%) | 2573 (81.4%) | |

Abbreviations: ART, antiretroviral therapy; IQR, interquartile range.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203890.t002

polypharmacy, such as older age, white race, and HIV-positive status [17]. Since the introduction of effective ART, HIV-positive individuals experience markedly extended survival [24], and hence experience non-HIV chronic comorbidities. These comorbidities often occur at higher rates and earlier ages than among HIV-negative persons [8]. Our data revealed conflicting results regarding selected aging-related comorbidity rates by HIV status. HIV-negative participants more often reported diabetes, dyslipidemia, and high blood pressure than HIVpositive persons; however, this could have been in part due to HIV-negative participants having been older. Nevertheless, we found that use of medications used to treat these diseases (diabetes, dyslipidemia, and hypertension) was slightly greater among HIV-positive participants. This could be due, in part, to HIV-negative participants reporting lower rates of medication insurance coverage and health care visits overall. However, polypharmacy rates converged between HIV-positive and -negative participants at the end of the observation period. HIVnegative participants had a lower number of health care visits in 2004 compared with HIVpositive participants. By 2016, the numbers of health care visits by HIV status were similar. In analyses restricted to HIV-positive participants, we found that having a detectable viral load, CD4 less than 500, and ART adherence were not associated with a greater likelihood of polypharmacy, while ART use was associated with polypharmacy; this finding could be related to increased dyslipidemia and cardiovascular disease reported in association with ART use among HIV-positive persons [25-26].

Our study was subject to several limitations. We relied on self-reported medication use, which presented the possibility of recall bias. Short-term medication use, such as antibiotics, may have been underreported, especially if taken for short periods of time. Finally, this study used a nonrandom convenience sample and was restricted to HIV-positive and -negative MSM in 4 major metropolitan regions. Therefore, these results may not be generalizable to other MSM in the general population. Despite these limitations, there were some important strengths in this analysis including the ability to evaluate the long-term characterization of polypharmacy in a cohort for which standardized collection of medication use was semiannually recorded, in contrast to previously published polypharmacy studies, which were cross-sectional.

Conclusion

In the MACS, polypharmacy was more prevalent among participants who were HIV positive, 50 years and older, enrolled during the earlier recruitment period, and had medication insurance coverage. Increased rates of comorbidities among the participants drove the main finding of increasing rates of polypharmacy over time. We also observed a convergence of polypharmacy prevalence between HIV-positive and -negative participants by the end of the observation period, which could be explained by increasing health care visits by HIV-negative participants. Further research will be needed to elucidate determinants of increased



Fig 1. Prevalence of select medications by age, HIV status, and visit. Figure shows adjusted prevalence of antidepressant, antihypertensive, cholesterollowering, and steroid medication use among those 50 years and older (A, C, E, and G, respectively), and among those younger than 50 years old (B, D, F, and H, respectively).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203890.g001

polypharmacy and to explore the appropriateness of prescribing practices that may contribute to polypharmacy among PLWH.





https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203890.g002

| | Adjus | sted Prevalence Ratios (95 | 5% CI) |
|---|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| | Overall | HIV Positive | HIV Negative |
| HIV status | | | |
| Positive | 1.36 (1.26 to 1.46) ^a | - | - |
| Negative | Referent | - | - |
| Age | | | |
| \geq 50 y | 1.61 (1.47 to 1.76) ^a | 1.22 (1.13 to 1.33) ^a | 1.56 (1.32 to 1.84) ^a |
| < 50 y | Referent | Referent | Referent |
| Race/ethnicity | | | |
| Non-Hispanic black | 0.73 (0.65 to 0.82) ^a | 0.83 (0.74 to 0.92) ^a | 0.94 (0.77 to 1.16) |
| Other | 0.86 (0.75 to 0.99) ^a | 1.04 (0.93 to 1.16) | 0.82 (0.63 to 1.08) |
| Non-Hispanic white | Referent | Referent | Referent |
| Medication insurance coverage | | | |
| Yes | 1.32 (1.16 to 1.49) ^a | 1.14 (1.01 to 1.27) ^a | 1.90 (1.59 to 2.28) |
| No | Referent | Referent | Referent |
| Enrollment period | | | |
| Early recruitment (1987–1991) | 1.26 (1.14 to 1.40) ^a | 1.08 (0.99 to 1.18) ^a | 1.42 (1.18 to 1.72) ² |
| Late recruitment (2001–2003) | Referent | Referent | Referent |
| Viral Load | - | | - |
| Detectable | - | 0.97 (0.92 to 1.02) | - |
| Undetectable | - | Referent | - |
| CD4 ⁺ count (cells/mm ³) | | | |
| < 500 | - | 0.97 (0.91 to 1.02) | - |
| ≥ 500 | - | Referent | - |
| ART adherence | | | |
| 95%-99% | - | 1.04 (0.99 to 1.10) | - |
| 75%-94% | - | 0.98 (0.89 to 1.09) | - |
| <75% | - | 0.95 (0.80 to 1.14) | - |
| 100% | - | Referent | - |
| ART medication use | - | 1.15 (1.12 to 1.18) ^a | - |

| Fable 3. Adjusted risk factors f | for polypharmacy in partici | pants. |
|----------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------|
|----------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------|

Abbreviation: ART, antiretroviral therapy; ^a Statistically significant; *p* values were calculated using generalized estimating equation models.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203890.t003

Acknowledgments

Data in this manuscript were collected by the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study (MACS) with centers at <u>Baltimore, Maryland</u>: The Johns Hopkins University Bloomberg School of Public Health: Joseph B. Margolick (PI), Todd Brown (PI), Jay Bream, Adrian Dobs, Michelle Estrella, W. David Hardy, Lisette Johnson-Hill, Sean Leng, Anne Monroe, Cynthia Munro, Michael W. Plankey, Wendy Post, Ned Sacktor, Jennifer Schrack, and Chloe Thio; <u>Chicago, Illinois</u>: Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, and Cook County Bureau of Health Services: Steven M. Wolinsky (PI), Sheila Badri, Dana Gabuzda, Frank J. Palella, Jr., Sudhir Penugonda, John P. Phair, Susheel Reddy, Matthew Stephens, and Linda Teplin; <u>Los Angeles, California</u>: University of California, UCLA Schools of Public Health and Medicine: Roger Detels (PI), Otoniel Martínez-Maza (PI), Otto Yang (Co-PI), Peter Anton, Robert Bolan, Elizabeth Breen, Anthony Butch, Shehnaz Hussain, Beth Jamieson, John Oishi, Harry Vinters, Dorothy Wiley, Mallory Witt, Stephen Young, and Zuo Feng Zhang; <u>Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania</u>: University of Pittsburgh, Graduate School of Public Health: Charles R. Rinaldo (PI), Lawrence

A. Kingsley (PI), Jeremy J. Martinson (PI), James T. Becker, Phalguni Gupta, Kenneth Ho, Susan Koletar, John W. Mellors, Anthony J. Silvestre, and Ronald D. Stall; <u>Data Coordinating</u> <u>Center</u>: The Johns Hopkins University Bloomberg School of Public Health: Lisa P. Jacobson (PI), Gypsyamber D'Souza (PI), Alison Abraham, Keri Althoff, Michael Collaco, Priya Duggal, Sabina Haberlen, Eithne Keelaghan, Heather McKay, Alvaro Muñoz, Derek Ng, Anne Rostich, Eric C. Seaberg, Sol Su, Pamela Surkan, and Nicholas Wada; <u>Institute of Allergy and Infectious</u> <u>Diseases</u>: Robin E. Huebner; and <u>National Cancer Institute</u>: Geraldina Dominguez. The MACS website is available at http://aidscohortstudy.org/.

Author Contributions

Formal analysis: Deanna Ware.

Investigation: Deanna Ware.

Methodology: Deanna Ware.

Supervision: Michael Plankey.

Writing - original draft: Deanna Ware.

Writing – review & editing: Frank J. Palella, Jr., Kara W. Chew, M. Reuel Friedman, Gypsyamber D'Souza, Ken Ho, Michael Plankey.

References

- Justice AC. HIV and aging: time for a new paradigm. Curr HIV/ AIDS Rep. 2010; 7(2): 69–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11904-010-0041-9 PMID: 20425560
- Mann DM, Woodward M, Ye F, Krousel-Wood M, Muntner P. Trends in medication use among US adults with diabetes mellitus: glycemic control at the expense of controlling cardiovascular risk factors. Arch Intern Med. 2009; 169(18):1718–1725. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2009.296 PMID: 19822830
- Gu Q, Burt VL, Dillon CF, Yoon S. Trends in antihypertensive medication use and blood pressure control among United States adults with hypertension. Circulation. 2012; 126:2105–2114. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.096156 PMID: 23091084
- Gu Q, Paulose-Ram R, Burt VL, Kit BK. Prescription Cholesterol-Lowering Medication Use in Adults Aged 40 and Over: United States, 2003–2012. NCHS Data brief 2014, No. 177. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics; 2014.
- 5. So-Armah K, Freiberg M. CVD risk in an aging HIV population: not just a question of biology. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2014; 9(4): 346–354. https://doi.org/10.1097/COH.00000000000065 PMID: 24824885
- Petoumenos K, Worm SW. HIV infection, aging and cardiovascular disease: epidemiology and prevention. Sex Health. 2011; 8(4):465–473. https://doi.org/10.1071/SH11020 PMID: 22127031
- Rodriguez-Penney A, Iudicello J, Riggs P, Doyle K, Ellis R, Letendre S, et al. HIV Neurobehavioral Research Program HNRP Group. Co-morbidities in persons infected with HIV: increased burden with older age and negative effects on health-related quality of life. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2013; 27(1): 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2012.0329 PMID: 23305257
- Krentz HB, Cosman I, Lee K, Ming JM, Gill MJ. Pill burden in HIV infection: 20 years of experience. Antivir Ther. 2012; 17(5):833–840. https://doi.org/10.3851/IMP2076 PMID: 22358155
- Hovstadius B, Petersson G. Factors leading to excessive polypharmacy. Clin Geriatr Med. 2012; 28 (2):159–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cger.2012.01.001 PMID: 22500536
- Greene M, Steinman MA, McNicholl IR, Valcour V. Polypharmacy, drug–drug interactions, and potentially inappropriate medications in older adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2014; 62(3):447–453. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12695 PMID: 24576251
- Edelman EJ, Gordon KS, Glover J, McNicholl IR, Fiellin DA, Justice AC. The next therapeutic challenge in HIV: polypharmacy. Drugs Aging. 2013; 30(8):613–628. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40266-013-0093-9 PMID: 23740523
- Holtzman C, Armon C, Tedaldi E, Chmiel JS, Buchacz K, Wood K, et al. Polypharmacy and risk of antiretroviral drug interactions among the aging HIV-infected population. J Gen Intern Med. 2013; 28 (10):1302–1310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-013-2449-6 PMID: 23605401

- Hasse B, Ledergerber B, Furrer H, Battegay M, Hirschel B, Cavassini M, et al. Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Morbidity and aging in HIV-infected persons: the Swiss HIV cohort study. Clin Infect Dis. 2011; 53 (11):1130–1139. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cir626 PMID: 21998280
- Kantor ED, Rehm CD, Haas JS, Chan AT, Giovannucci EL. Trends in prescription drug use among adults in the United States from 1999–2012. JAMA. 2015; 314(17):1818–1830. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.2015.13766 PMID: 26529160
- Siefried KJ, Mao L, Cysique LA, Rule J, Ciles ML, Smith DE, et al. Concomitant medication polypharmacy, interactions and imperfect adherence are common in Australian adults on suppressive antiretroviral therapy. AIDS (London, England). 2018; 32(1):35–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD</u>. 00000000001685 PMID: 29135584
- Guaraldi G, Malagoli A, Calcagno A, Mussi C, Calasia BM, Carli F, et al. The increasing burden and complexity of multi-morbidity and polypharmacy in geriatric HIV patients: a cross sectional study of people aged 65–74 years and more than 75 years. BMC Geriatrics. 2018; 18:99. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12877-018-0789-0 PMID: 29678160
- Justice AC, Gordon KS, Skanderson M, Edelman EJ, Akgün KM, Gibert CL, et al. Nonantiretroviral polypharmacy and adverse health outcomes among HIV-infected and uninfected individuals. AIDS: 2018 32(6): 739–749 https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.00000000001756 PMID: 29543653
- Gimeno-Gracia M, Crusells-Canales MJ, Armesto-Gómez FJ, Compaired-Turlán V, Rabanaque-Hernández MJ. Polypharmacy in older adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection compared with the general population. Clin Interv Aging. 2016 Aug 26; 11:1149–57 https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA. S108072 PMID: 27616883
- Kaslow RA, Ostrow DG, Detels R, Phair JP, Polk BF, Rinaldo CR. The Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study: rationale, organization, and selected characteristics of the participants. Am J Epidemiol. 1987 Aug; 126 (2):310–8 PMID: 3300281
- Detels R, Phair JP, Saah AJ, Rinaldo CR, Murioz A, Kaslow RA, et al. Recent Scientific Contributions to Understanding HIV/AIDS from the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. J Epidemiol. 1992; 2(2sup):11–9
- Dudley J, Jin S, Hoover D, Metz S, Thackeray R, Chmiel J. The Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study: retention after 9 1/2 years. Am J Epidemiol. 1995 Aug 1; 142(3):323–30 PMID: 7631636
- Althoff KN, Jacobson LP, Cranston RD, Detels R, Phair JP, Li X, et al. Age, comorbidities, and AIDS predict a frailty phenotype in men who have sex with men. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2014; 69 (2):189–198. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glt148 PMID: 24127428
- Kleeberger CA, Phair JP, Strathdee SA, Detels R, Kingsley L, Jacobson LP. Determinants of heterogeneous adherence to HIV-antiretroviral therapies in the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2001; 26:82–92. PMID: 11176272
- 24. Feeney ER, Mallon PW. HIV and HAART-associated dyslipidemia. Open Cardiovasc Med J. 2011; 5:49–63. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874192401105010049 PMID: 21643501
- Post WS, Budoff M, Kingsley L, Palella FJ Jr., Witt MD, Li X, et al. Associations between HIV infection and subclinical coronary atherosclerosis. Ann Intern Med. 2014; 160(7): 458–467. PMCID: PMC4143766 https://doi.org/10.7326/M13-1754 PMID: 24687069
- 26. Metkus TS, Brown T, Budoff M, Kingsley L, Palella FJ Jr., Witt MD, et al. HIV infection is associated with an increased prevalence of coronary noncalcified plaque among participants with a coronary artery calcium score of zero: Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study (MACS). HIV Med. 2015; 16(10): 635–639. PMCID: PMC4618024 https://doi.org/10.1111/hiv.12262 PMID: 25968104